
1 
 

PENSIONS, BENEFITS AND SOCIAL SECURITY SECTION (PBSS) 
 

Minutes of the 25th Committee Meeting of the PBSS Section  
held on Monday 21, November 2016 from 08:00 to 10:00 hrs  

at the Westin Cape Town Hotel, Cape Town. 
 
 
 

1. Welcome and Apologies 
The Chair (Abraham Hernández Pacheco) welcomed everybody to the meeting. Eight PBSS Committee 
members attended the meeting (See the table on page 7). Apologies were received from Mr. Allan 
Paldanius, Mr. Krzysztof Ostaszewski and Mr. Paulo Josef Gouvéa da Gama. Ms. Carol Ann Banks, a 
staff of IAA Secretariat, attended the meeting. It should be noted that Allan did try to connect by 
phone, but technical difficulties made it impossible. 

2. Adoption of  Agenda 
Abe briefly discussed the agenda of the Committee meeting, and the agenda was adopted without 
change.   

3. Approval of the minutes of the last committee meeting held on Sunday, 26 June 2016 from 
15:00 to 16:50 hours at the Sheraton Hotel Newfoundland, St John’s, Canada. 
No comments were made and the minutes were approved without change.  

4. Work Plan 2017 
Abe explained the draft PBSS Work Plan for 2017 and the Committee paid consideration to the items 
one by one.  

4.1 Strategic Objective 1 
For the Strategic Objective 1: “Identify, establish, promote and maintain relationships with key 
supranational audiences and provide them with actuarial input to improve the soundness of decisions 
being made on important issues with a global impact,” Abe listed no targets on the Work Plan. 

4.2 Strategic Objective 2 
For the SO2: “Facilitate the coordination, use and expansion of the scientific knowledge and skills of 
the actuarial profession, including beyond the traditional areas of actuarial practice, to help enhance 
the scope, availability, and quality of actuarial services offered by individual members of its member 
associations,” Abe listed six targets.  

Firstly, he listed three targets of maintaining relation with ISSA, IPEBLA and ILO. Abe evaluated that 
the relationship with ISSA was on track. Mr. Christopher Daykin said that the relationship was more 
vibrant than that with the ILO and was working very well because Ms. Assia Billig, vice chair of the 
Social Security Committee, is the right hand person of Mr. Jean-Claud Menard in the Chief Actuary’s 
Office of the Federal Government of Canada, who is the chair of the actuaries’ committee of ISSA. 
Barbara agreed and supplemented that the delegates from ISSA and ILO had joined the Geneva 
Discussion Forum (recently renamed as ‘Social Security and Labour Policy Discussion Forum’) by phone.  

 



2 
 

Abe asked if there would be no need to support the Social Security Committee and Chris answered 
affirmatively.  

As for the relationship with IPEBLA, Chris said that he had been in touch with IPEBLA since the St. 
John’s Colloquium through IACA, and raised the point whether we want to have some other events 
with IPEBLA in the future. Abe said that IACA would join the Cancun Colloquium but IPEBLA would not 
since they have some other schedules. Chris said that a possibility of holding joint events would be 
colloquia after the Berlin ICA. Mr. Marius Michiel Du Tois said that we should keep in mind the 
possibility of having some collaboration with IPEBLA in the future and added that IPEBLA might show 
interest in the Cape Town Colloquium planned from 1st to 4th of April, 2019.   

As for the relationship with ILO, Abe mentioned the role that Mr. Junichi Sakamoto had used to play. 
Carol supplemented that SSC and the Health Committee had been working with ILO with regard to the 
Geneva Discussion Forum. Chris said that he had attended the Forum in that September and there 
were lot of interesting collaborations especially in research issues such as benefit adequacy and long 
term sustainability. He explained some themes of the Forum very briefly, including basic insurance 
programs for employers in Bangladesh, the activity of the health committee and the issue of 
accounting social security and social protection in national accounts. Ms. Barbara D’Ambrogi-Ola 
explained that IAA submitted its comments to the IPSAS-B on the consultation paper. Chris estimated 
that the most likely scenario would be requirement for additional disclosure. He summarized that the 
Forum had been very fruitful and the Forum would be taking place on an annual basis, which would be 
sufficiently worthwhile. Barbara said SSC had been involved in the sustainability project. Chris 
mentioned the issue of formalizing MoU with ILO and commented that it would take a long time since 
ILO was a very complex body. Barbara agreed to the comment.  

Secondly, Abe listed the target: ‘Maintain Virtual Library.’ He asked to let him know any relevant 
publication that should be included in the Library. Chris asked whether the papers presented in the St. 
John’s Colloquium had gone into the Library and Abe answered that they should go in due course. 
Chris requested to collect the paper issued by the Population Issues Working Group and the papers of 
the Actuarial Association of Europe in the Library.    

Thirdly, Abe listed the target: ‘Support the publication of the ASTIN bulletin and encourage members 
to contribute papers.’ Mr. Yasuyuki Fujii questioned why PBSS need to pay CAD 5,000 for the ASTIN 
bulletin. Abe explained that the amount was the fee PBSS had to pay in proportionate to the PBSS 
membership, but we had had more return because of the loyalty income. Mr. Carl Hansen 
supplemented that at some previous meeting Mr. Christian Levác had been saying that more loyalties 
would be expected in the future. Chris said it would be still an issue that the ASTIN Bulletin were not 
publishing much papers in the field of pensions and social security and it seems that ASTIN likes 
technical papers. Yas said that although CAD 5,000 would not be material for IAA, it would still affect 
the total amount of budget and therefore CAD 5,000 should be deleted if we need not pay the amount. 
Then it was decided to reduce the amount to CAD 2,000, taking into account the loyalty income to 
some extent. Yas asked the relation of CAD 1,000 allocated for prize money with the amount allocated 
to the ASTIN bulletin. MdT explained that the intention would be awarding the best paper in the field 
of pensions listed on the ASTIN bulletin. Carl asked who would decide the best paper on the ASTIN 
bulletin. Abe answered that he would take a look at pension related papers on the ASTIN bulletin and 
bring the candidate papers to the PBSS committee. Yas commented that it would be a new challenge 
for the PBSS committee.   

Fourthly, Abe listed the target: ‘Maintain Reference List on the web, at least 6 new posts per year.’ Yas 
asked the intention of the budget of CAD 2,000 allocated to the target. Abe answered that the amount 
would be a kind of bursary to be offered to the actuarial student who supported preparing the 
Reference List for attendance at a PBSS colloquium. Abe explained his idea of delegating the task of 
looking for relevant papers and preparing the reference list to some actuarial student and check the 
list thus prepared by the student. Abe said he would like to request either Mr. Ignacio del Barco, Mr. 
Allan Paldanius or Mr. Krzysztof Ostaszewski to do the task. Everybody agreed to this excellent idea. 
Chris said Krzysztof Ostaszewski would be able to help this task because he was belonging to the 



3 
 

academic world. Abe answered that Krzysztof would be most suitable and he would talk to Krzysztof 
afterward. 

4.3 Strategic Objective 3 
For the SO3: “Establish, maintain and promote common standards of actuarial education and common 
principles of professional conduct. Promote the development and issuance of actuarial standards in the 
jurisdictions of all Full Member Associations, and the global convergence of actuarial standards,” Abe 
listed the target: ‘Publish PBSS Quarterly Newspapers on the Web.’ There was no discussion on the 
target. 

4.4 Strategic Objective 4 
For the SO4: “Support the development, organization and promotion of the actuarial profession in 
areas of the world in which it is not present or is not fully developed,” Abe listed the target: ‘Give 
bursaries to speakers from countries with developing actuarial profession for attendance at colloquia.’ 
With regard to the amount of the bursary to the speakers, MdT said the actual amount per person is 
more than CAD 1,000 and explained the case in the last colloquium. Namely, CAD 700 for travel cost, 
CAD 300 for accommodation cost and the colloquium fees. MdT continued that if the colloquium fees 
for the next would be CAD 600, then the amount would be CAD 1,600 per bursary and the question 
would be how many bursaries we should offer.  Abe proposed three bursaries would be a reasonable 
target and added that we should be flexible if there were something really worthwhile. Everybody 
agreed. Chris said that we would be requested to make contribution to the bursary funds for the next 
Berlin ICA and we had to prepare the corresponding amount in the 2017 budget. MdT said that we 
had made contribution of USD 10,000 for the last Washington ICA. Chris said we should say it should 
be used for pension related papers. Everybody agreed. As for the amount of the budget, it was 
decided to allocate CAD 5,000 for bursaries and CAD 2,000 for best paper prizes for the target: ‘Hold 
successful colloquium in Cancun’ for the SO5.   

4.5  Strategic Objective 5 
For the SO5: “Provide a forum for discussion among actuaries and actuarial associations throughout 
the world,” Abe listed four targets. First one was ‘Hold successful colloquium in Cancun.’ 
Consideration has already been paid as above.  

Second target was ‘Planning for 2018 ICA in Berlin.’ Abe explained that we would be requested to 
contribute some amount for the ICA and proposed to spread it into two years and allocate CAD 4,000 
to the 2017 Budget. He continued that in the section chairs’ meeting it was agreed that each section 
should be involved proactively in planning the ICA even if the organizing committee would not need 
any support from the Sections. Chris recalled that in most recent congresses each section had been 
asked to organize a track for a couple of days. He estimated that the organizing committee of the 
Berlin ICA would offer two days of PBSS activities and added that the scientific program would be 
better if each Section proposes session themes and recommends speakers. Mr. Douglas Carey 
remarked that the preparation of the Berlin ICA seemed running late about three months compared to 
that of the Washington ICA.  

Abe reported that the scientific committee of the Berlin ICA was asking the PBSS Committee to decide 
the best paper six months in advance of the ICA. Answering a question from Yas about financing of the 
past best paper prizes, Abe said that Sections had contributed that money. Yas also questioned on the 
resources of bursaries and Abe answered that in the case of the Washington Congress, sections had 
been asked to contribute the money and PBSS had provided USD 10,000. Abe added that it had been 
also possible for each Section to provide its own bursaries.  

Yas questioned how to know the progress of the preparation and how to inform PBSS members on 
bursaries in appropriate timing.  Abe answered that he asked the organizing committee and the 
scientific committee of the Berlin ICA to send him the minutes of the meetings. He added that he was 
planning to watch the progress by translating the relevant parts of the minutes using for instance the 
Google translation tool. He continued that in any way we should grasp the progress as early as 
possible and correspond appropriately. 



4 
 

Carl said that for the Berlin ICA it would be better for the scientific committee to select best papers, 
although in the case of the Washington ICA, PBSS Committee had done the task. Abe pointed out that 
in the former case the question would be whether there would be appropriate intellectuals in the field 
of pensions. Yas added that it might be questionable for the scientific committee to select best paper 
among the professional papers. Abe said that it would be difficult and it might be needed to select 
best professional papers ourselves, while the scientific committee would select best academic papers. 
He added that we should be involved in selecting best academic papers. Abe remarked that the 
scientific committee of the Berlin ICA had already issued the Call for Papers.          

Abe asked somebody in the PBSS Committee to volunteer the task of watching the progress of the 
Berlin ICA preparation. As a result of discussion, it was decided that Abe would send the minutes to 
Carl and Carl would watch the progress. 

Third target was ‘Hold eight webinars per calendar year.’ MdT explained that in 2016 we had already 
held five webinars and were preparing two webinars. Abe questioned whether targeting eight 
webinars would be appropriate. Chris proposed that holding a webinar in two months and targeting 
six times annually would be most appropriate. Everybody supported the proposal. Abe remarked that 
we were collaborating with IACA in holding webinars. 

Abe asked the basis of the amount of CAD 600 allocated to webinar in the 2017 Budget. MdT 
answered that each Section was required to pay CAD 99 per month irrespective of how many times 
the Section hold webinars. Abe remarked that the PBSS Committee promotes viewing webinars not 
only to PBSS members but also Life and IACA members but for viewing webinars he/she have to be a 
member of PBSS.  

MdT asked everybody to let him know the possible topics of webinar. He added he was considering 
holding webinars on the best papers in the Cancun Colloquium. Abe said it might be possible to hold 
webinars on the papers listed on the Reference List. With relation to this, Abe reported that Mr. Hibiki, 
who had been awarded the best paper prize at the St. John’s Colloquium, had requested some 
physical certificate of the prize. Abe said that there had been no precedence but he would provide a 
certificate if agreed. Everybody agreed to the proposal. Abe said that he would let his student to 
design the certificate.    

Abe reported that it was agreed in the section chairs’ meeting to create a joint communication 
committee composed of delegates of all the Sections for increasing section membership and 
proceeding communication with the section members on the contents of colloquia and webinars and 
promoting Sections through FMAs. He proposed to appoint Carl as a member of the joint 
communication committee. Everybody agreed to the proposal and it was decided to add a target 
‘Communication and expanding membership.’ 

Abe said that he had submitted the draft version of 2017 Work Plan because the deadline of 
submitting the WP to IAA had been set at the end of last October. He pointed out that the deadline 
should be changed taking into account the schedule of the IAA meeting in the autumn. MdT added 
that the format of the WP were not always easy to understand. Carol explained that it was not needed 
to fill up all the items of the Strategic Objectives. 

Abe mentioned the relationship with the World Pension Summit. He explained that WPS was dealing 
with interesting topics and holding a database of several thousand persons in the field of pensions. He 
reported that he invited Mr. Eric Eggink, who is one of the founders of WPS, to the Cancun Colloquium. 
Abe added that WPS was not focusing on actuarial matters but still very interesting. He explained that 
WPS had held a meeting in Africa and seemed to hold a same sort of meeting in Latin America.   

4.6  Other  
Abe asked any other comments and opinions to everybody on the WP. There were no comments or 
opinions and the WP modified as above was thus approved.   

5. Section Task Force (corresponding to 4.2 of the original Agenda) 



5 
 

Abe reported the discussion exchanged in the Section Task Force as follows:  
STF is thinking about modifying the overall structure of Sections and FMAs in IAA. Namely, STF is 
considering the structure that each FMA makes additional contribution proportionate to its 
membership and every member of the FMA automatically becomes a member of some Section. STF 
is now in consultation with the FMAs on the idea. Yas asked if then there would be no need to 
promote PBSS Section and the concept of membership of PBSS would be vanished. Abe answered 
negatively and said that promoting PBSS would still be necessary to increase the membership. He 
added that the concrete direction of the discussion in STF would not be certain, although he 
introduced the progress of discussion until that time. 

Abe also reported that STF was asking an opportunity of explaining the discussion in the Presidents 
Forum of the IAA Budapest Meeting. He explained that IAA was the association of FMAs and Sections 
were association of FMA members but not everybody understood in that way and there seemed some 
confusion. He added that the motivation of modifying the structure was making it easy for every FMA 
member to join the Sections and for that purpose the method of opt-out instead of opt-in might be 
possible.        

6. Webinars 
MdT said that Mr. Jean McDonald was asking to advertise webinars via the Web but we had not done 
such a thing. He added that the topics of webinars were themselves very interesting and the question 
would be whether we should advertise webinars. Abe said that advertising is not the task of PBSS but 
we are making efforts to disseminate webinars using the Reference List, etc. He added that 
disseminating webinars would lead to extending the membership of PBSS. As a result of discussion, it 
was concluded to create another section in the Reference List. It should be noted that that is not an 
advertisement.  

7. Website and international exchange 

7.1 New International Actuarial Platform 
Abe explained as follows:  

The organizer of the Berlin ICA is developing a platform for the ICA. The organiser is proposing to 
share the platform with IAA and the Sections. The idea of the platform looks like making Facebook 
for actuaries, such as creating networks and exchanging conversations, preparing postures for 
actuarial knowledges, etc.  

Abe said that the idea was good but the cost would be 60 euros per year and per member of FMA. He 
added that the membership of FMAs is about 65,000 in total and the cost would be too much 
expensive and the proposal would be out of consideration. He added that it was also true that IAA 
needs some platform and we would like to keep a watch to the development of the platform that the 
ICA organiser was preparing and consider other measures. He explained that he modified the title of 
the agenda to ‘New International Actuarial Platform.’       

8. Future Colloquia, Meetings, Conferences or Seminars 

8.1 2017 Colloquium – Cancún, Mexico, 04-07 June 2017 
Abe reported largely as follows: 

We prepared a toolkit to promote the Cancún Colloquium. We want PEBC, SSC and each FMA to 
use the toolkit. Registration to the Colloquium has already started and about 15 persons already 
made registration. Early bird registration is especially good for value for the money. We are asking 
Mr. Christian Levác to analyse the development of the number of participants.   

Yas reported that the Japanese Society of Certified Pension Actuaries held an event to promote the 
Cancún Colloquium. It was also reported that IACA would join the Colloquium.  

8.2 31st ICA – Berlin, Germany, 04-08 June 2018 



6 
 

There was no discussion on the Berlin ICA, other than mentioned above.  

8.3 2019 Colloquium – South Africa  
MdT reported that they had set the 2019 Colloquium from first to fourth of April and reserved a site 
with about six conference rooms, each of the rooms has capacity of 40 to 60 persons. He explained 
that it was not certain how many Sections would join, but several Sections were showing their 
interests, including LIFE and ASTIN. He added that they were planning the Colloquium in collaboration 
with a local seminar.       

8.4 2020 Colloquium  
Abe explained that he would meet Mr. José Manuel Mendinhos in that evening and consult about the 
2020 Colloquium.  

8.5 2021 Colloquium  
Chris said that ISSA meeting for social security actuaries and statisticians was also planned in 2021 and 
it might be possible to collaborate with it as in the case in Helsinki.   

9. Finance report  

9.1 Fiscal 2016 financial statements 
Doug said that he would make the financial report next time as the financial report would be prepared 
by IAA Secretariat, taking account of the 2017 Budget. .  

10. Membership and constitution 
This agenda was already paid consideration in the 2017 Work Plan. 

11. Cooperation with supranational organisations 
This agenda was already paid consideration in the 2017 Work Plan. 

12. Feedback from PEBC and SSC    
This agenda was skipped due to time constraints.  

13. Any other business 
Carl raised the issue of enhancing participation to the PBSS Committee meetings. Chris remarked that 
many new members had joined the Committee at the previous CMT meeting in St. John’s. Abe 
mentioned the possibility of letting members with very scarce participation resign and those with 
interests in the activities of the PBSS Committee join. He added that it might be possible to consider 
the candidates among the members of PBEC and SSC.  However, no conclusion was reached about the 
issue.  

14. Close 
There being no further business, the Chair closed the meeting, and thanked all for their attendance. 
 
Abraham Hernández Pacheco  
Chair, PBSS 
November 2016 

  



7 
 

 
Attendance Register 

Meeting of the PBSS Section Committee 
Monday, 21 November 2016 

Cape Town, South Africa 
 
 

 Name Country Atten-
dance 

Date 
appointed 

Date re-
elected 

End of 
term 

Honorary 
Chair 

Christopher Daykin UK Yes 3/2014  – 

Immediate 
Past Chair 

Marius Michiel Du 
Toit 

South 
Africa 

Yes 6/2016 – 5/2018 

Chair 
 

Abraham Hernández 
Pacheco 

Mexico Yes 9/2011 6/2015 6/2019 

Deputy 
Chair 

Carl Hansen Guernsey Yes 3/2010 3/2014 3/2018 

Secretary Nobuhiro Shimizu Japan Yes 9/2011 6/2015 6/2019 

Treasurer Douglas Carey USA Yes 5/2012 6/2016 6/2020 

 Allan Paldanius Finland No 6/2016  6/2020 

 Brij Bushan India No 3/2014  3/2018 

 Florian Léger France No 9/2011 6/2015 6/2019 

 Ignacio del Barco Spain No 6/2016  6/2020 

 Jack Mack Hong Kong No 3/2014  3/2018 

 Krzysztof 
Ostaszewski 

USA No 6/2016  6/2020 

 Paulo Josef Gouvêa 
da Gama 

Brazil No 6/2016  6/2020 

IAA 
delegate 

Barbara D'Ambrogi-
Ola 

Finland Yes - - - 

IAA 
delegate 

Yasuyuki Fujii Japan Yes - - - 

 
 


